

#### WNIHL ICE HOCKEY LEAGUE

#### Rules of Competition 2025-2026

#### **Table of Contents**

- 1. Scope & Interpretation
- 2. League Identity & Structure
- 3. Governance Hierarchy
- 4. Season Calendar
- 5. Team Eligibility
- 6. Player Eligibility & Age Rules
- 7. Movement of Players
- 8. Failure to Fulfil a Fixture
- 9. Payment of On-Ice Officials
- 10. Equipment & Kit
- 11. Appendices (A-F)

#### 1. Scope & Interpretation

All EIH-sanctioned games and tournaments must adhere to the IIHF Rules of Ice Hockey

Where the IIHF rules are supplemented or amended by the **IHUK In-House Rules & Officiating Guidance** (<a href="https://www.ihukreferee.uk/downloads">https://www.ihukreferee.uk/downloads</a>), the IHUK wording will take precedence for domestic competition.

Order of precedence: IIHF Rules  $\rightarrow$  IHUK Sex & Gender Participation Policy  $\rightarrow$  IHUK In-House Rules  $\rightarrow$  WNIHL Rules of Competition.

**Insurance notice:** Participants are covered by EIH insurance **only when** the game, tournament or camp has been formally sanctioned or approved by EIH.

### 2. League Identity & Structure

Junior leagues are solely owned and operated by EIH. The regular season runs **5**<sup>th</sup> **Sep 2025 – 10**<sup>th</sup> **May 2026**. League formats and the 2025-26 divisional matrix are set out in Appendix A.

#### Midweek fixtures

 Permitted by mutual written agreement of both teams. On agreement, the Home Club must notify EIH (Scheduling/Officiating) so officials can be appointed and systems updated.



#### Formats & fixtures

- League formats aim to be finalised by 31 May prior to each new season to ensure an optimal development structure.
- The total number of games and home/away distribution for each team is set annually for each section and published in Appendix A.

# **Points System**

#### Result Points Awarded

Regulation win 2 points

Regulation draw 1 point

Regulation loss 0 points

# **Double Points & Unfulfilled Fixtures**

No double-points games will be played, except in exceptional circumstances (e.g. a non-fault failure to fulfil a fixture that cannot be rescheduled).

In such cases, the requesting team must:

- · Obtain written agreement from the opposing team, and
- Submit this, with supporting reasons, to EIH for approval.

EIH reserves the right to refuse any request.

If no fixture remains to award double points, the result will be recorded as 0–0, one point each.

Unfulfilled games will be reviewed by EIH and the WNIHL League Management, in consultation with the league fixtures secretary, before a result is awarded. Permission from EIH must be obtained in advance if a scheduled fixture cannot be played.

### **League Title Tiebreakers**

The placing of teams in the league table shall be determined according to the following criteria, applied in order until the tie is broken:

- 1. Total points earned in the regular season.
- 2. Points earned in games between the tied teams.
- 3. Overall goal difference in games between the tied teams.
- 4. Overall goal difference in the regular season.
- 5. Total goals scored in the regular season.
- 6. Number of regulation wins.
- 7. Fewer penalty points accumulated in the regular season.



8. Fewer penalty minutes accumulated in the regular season.

If teams remain tied after all criteria have been applied, the final position shall be determined by the league.

### **Promotion & Relegation**

# **Club Eligibility**

• A club cannot have two teams in the same division. If a club already has a first team in the next division, its other teams are not eligible for promotion.

#### **End-of-Season Movement**

#### **Automatic Relegation/Promotion**

Newly promoted teams to the Elite Division will be immune from relegation in their first season. If a new team is bottom-placed, there will be no promotion playoff. If an established Elite team finishes in the bottom place, the following format will apply:

#### **WNIHL Elite vs WNIHL1:**

- The top placed team in WNIHL1 North plays the top team in WNIHL1 South in a promotion playoff. This will be 1H and 1A.
- Winner: Competes in WNIHL Elite next season
- Loser: Remains in WNIHL1
- Matches must be completed by June 30, 2026
- Bottom placed team in WNIHL Elite will automatically be relegated.

#### WNIHL1 North & South:

- Bottom teams → relegated to WNIHL2 North/South Valerie A
- Top teams from WNIHL2 North/South Valerie A → promoted to WNIHL1 North/South

#### WNIHL2 North/South Valerie:

- Bottom teams → relegated to WNIHL2 North/South Elizabeth B
- Top teams from WNIHL2 North/South Elizabeth B  $\rightarrow$  promoted to WNIHL2 North/South Valerie A

#### **Declined Promotion**

- If the top eligible team declines or is withdrawn, the relegated team may stay in the higher division.
- If they also decline, promotion is offered to the next eligible club.
- Any team that refuses promotion will start the next season with a 10-point deduction.

# **Game Length & Format**

Game duration and format for WNIHL matches are defined as follows:

Age group	Length	Format
WNIHL U16	3 x 15 minute periods	Full ice, non-checking, stop clock
WNIHL	3 x 20 minute periods	Full ice, non-checking, stop clock



All WNIHL league games must be played over 3 x 20-minute periods. In extraordinary circumstances, teams may apply to EIH for permission to play 3 x 15-minute periods. If a team cannot meet the standard format, they must:

- Inform the fixtures secretary immediately when submitting their fixtures.
- Provide a clear explanation for the deviation.

No WNIHL Fixture is permitted to face off any later than 7pm. Travelling opposition must have the ability to complete the fixture and return home before 2am for WNIHL Senior Fixtures, and 12am for WNIHL U16 Fixtures (under normal traffic conditions)

Once the season starts, game duration cannot be changed.

### **League Entry & Affiliation**

- Entry deadline: Clubs must apply by 31 May each year to enter teams for the following season.
- **Conditions:** By applying, clubs agree to abide by the EIH Rule Book and the rules of IIHF, IHUK, and EIH.
- Returning teams: Teams from the previous season are accepted if they:
  - o Have no outstanding debts, and
  - Meet re-affiliation criteria. They must still formally confirm their intent to participate.
- New teams: Must apply in writing to EIH by 31 May and have an ice time agreement in place to fulfil home fixtures. Once accepted, the team must complete the EIH affiliation process to gain full membership.
- **Multiple teams per age club:** Entry of a second or third team is at the discretion of EIH, subject to venue ice time agreements.
- **Divisional structure:** Reviewed annually by EIH in consultation with clubs. During the off-season, clubs may request to move divisions.

#### Withdrawal

- Any team that withdraws after the season begins:
  - o Is liable for fines (at EIH discretion), and
  - Must settle all unpaid fees or penalties.
- Withdrawals must be submitted in writing by an authorised club signatory to: <u>info@englandicehockey.com</u>



### 3. Governance Hierarchy

# Level BodyResponsibility1EIH BoardStrategic oversight & ratification of rules2WNIHL Management Committee Day-to-day league ops & discipline referrals3Risk & Governance Committee Rule-change scrutiny; safeguarding audit4Club RepresentativesFixtures, operational feedback, voting

#### 4. Season Calendar 2025-26

<u>Date</u>	Milestone		
31 May 2025	Expression-of-interest & affiliation deadline		
15 Jun 2025	League formats confirmed		
5 Sep 2025	Season opens (all divisions)		
31 Jan 2026 17:00 Domestic transfer deadline			
15 Feb 2026	IIHF ITC deadline (international)		
10 May 2026	Regular season ends		
23 May 2026	WNIHL National play-offs (per appendix B)		

### 5. Team Eligibility

To be eligible for any EIH competition, each team must:

# Affiliation & Registration

- o Complete EIH affiliation before entering the following season.
- Register the minimum number of players, coaches, and managers by 30
   August of the playing season. Failure to meet this may result in removal from competitions.
- WNIHL teams must have at least 12 registered players including a netminder (11+1).
- To enter two teams at the same age group, clubs must have 22 players including 2 netminders (20+2).
- There is no maximum squad size.



#### Contacts & Administration

- Provide email and telephone details for a lead contact and fixtures secretary.
   If these details change during the season, the club must notify EIH and the relevant regional lead without delay.
- Submit an expression of interest to enter by 31 May each year.
- Make available sufficient home ice dates to fulfil fixtures. Clubs must supply dates to EIH within five working days when requested. (Number of required dates is set annually and listed in Appendix A.)

# • Finance & Compliance

Settle all outstanding fines and debts owed to EIH or EIH-affiliated clubs.
 Teams with unpaid debts may be suspended until cleared.

### Coaching & Support Staff

- Each WNIHL team must have, as a minimum, on match days:
  - 1 x Level 2 Head/Team Coach
  - 1 x Level 1 Assistant Coach or an additional Level 2 Coach. This can be a designated bench coach or player coach.
- Team Manager is not required on the bench. However, can go on the bench at the discretion of the Head Coach, but is not counted towards.
- Clubs are strongly recommended to appoint a registered and qualified medical practitioner.
- **Eligibility reference:** Player eligibility -including sex & gender criteria for WNIHL is set out in Section 6 and governed by the IHUK Sex & Gender Participation Policy.

# Additional Teams

 Entry of a second or third team is at the discretion of EIH. Applications must be made by 31 May with supporting ice-time agreements.

# 6. Player Eligibility & Age Rules

To be eligible for any WNIHL EIH competition, players must:

- 1. Be registered in Gameday to the relevant club/team;
- 2. Where required, a player must hold a valid IIHF International Transfer Card (ITC) approved by IHUK before participating. British citizenship/passport is not a requirement for junior eligibility.
- 3. Have no unpaid EIH fines
- 4. Be registered with the correct age group team (see age rules below) by 31 January of the current season.



### Sex & Gender Eligibility – WNIHL (Senior & U16)

Female category (WNIHL senior & WNIHL U16): Eligible players are those whose sex recorded at birth is female. In the adult female category, a player must not be undergoing masculinising hormone treatment (e.g., exogenous testosterone) to remain eligible. This implements the IHUK Sex & Gender Participation Policy for gender-affected collision sports.

- Mixed participation (U11 and below): For clarity, mixed-gender ice hockey is permitted U11 and below; this sits outside WNIHL and follows the IHUK policy.
- U12–U18 categories (general principle): From U12 upward, competition is sexsegregated under IHUK policy; WNIHL U16 sits within the female category definition above.
- Data, privacy & process: Any eligibility checks will be minimal, necessary and proportionate, handled confidentially on a need-to-know basis under the IHUK policy (data rights, retention and DPIA apply).
- Anti-Doping: If a player is on medication that may require a TUE, UKAD rules apply (as referenced in the IHUK policy).

### Senior vs Junior status

A junior age player who registers solely for senior membership forfeits eligibility to play in any junior team, league, competition, or tournament.

### **Junior Age Eligibility**

- Players must be at least 14 years old on the date of the fixture to play in WNIHL senior women's leagues.
- Players aged 11 and over may train with a senior WNIHL team, but only in drills. No scrimmages allowed.
- For WNIHL U16, players must be 10 years old on the date of the fixture.
  - Female netminders may play from age 9.
- Players may train with a WNIHL U16 team from age 8, but only in drills, not scrimmages.
- Players registered with a junior club may request to play WNIHL U16 elsewhere if:
  - No agreement exists between affiliated clubs at the same rink, or
  - No development opportunity is available.
  - This does not apply to unaffiliated WNIHL U16 teams at the same rink.
- In the event of a fixture clash involving an U18 female player, junior teams do not have priority.
- The parent or guardian decides which team the player will represent. (only if this decision does not leave either team below the minimum bench strength required to fulfil a fixture)



#### **ITC Holders**

- Limited ITC: one-club registration.
- Unlimited ITC: movement options per IHUK rules.
- Please refer to the <u>IHUK ITC Policy</u> for further information

# **British-Trained Player Definition**

- A British-trained player is someone who:
  - Was under the UK national association for 16 consecutive months (480 days) before their 18th birthday, or
  - o Is currently registered as Under 18.
- A non-British-trained player is anyone who does not meet the above criteria.

# **Key Points**

- The main factor is whether the player transferred to/from the UK association before age 18.
- If a player has never been registered, they may be authorised as British-trained under IIHF transfer regulations.

### **Team Registration**

• Teams may register unlimited British-trained and non-British-trained players.

# **Reclassification Applications**

- Applications to be classified as non-British must:
  - Use the official form.
  - o Be complete and supported by evidence.
- Incomplete or unsupported applications will be rejected.

#### 7. Movement of Players

Player movement during the season can occur through:

Multiple club registration



- **Transfers** (permanent)
- Emergency transfers (temporary)
- **Dispensation to play up** (age group or division)

#### **General Rules**

- Transfer requests are valid for 28 days; no new request until this expires (except emergencies/dispensations).
- All parties (clubs, player, parents if U18) must agree in writing (email accepted).
- Clubs must submit official requests via Gameday.
- Requests need 5 days' notice before a fixture (non-ITC players).
- EIH approval is mandatory; they can refuse any movement.
- Players with dispensation don't count toward minimum squad strength (except WNIHL U16).
- Breaches = player ineligible, team penalised for icing an ineligible player.

# Registering for More Than One Club allowed when:

- Junior plays up to WNIHL senior league.
- Junior plays WNIHL U16 (if primary club has no affiliated U16 team).
- Senior plays in both WNIHL & NIHL (different clubs allowed).
- Registration lasts until season end.
- Eligibility rules & age limits apply.

#### **Transfers**

- Permanent move between clubs/teams with all approvals.
- Deadline: 31 January (after this, only challenge games/tournaments, Frank Wright Cup and Insurance only registrations are permitted).
- Transfer locks for 28 days after approval.
- International transfers follow IIHF deadlines.
- All transfer requests must be submitted via GameDay before 5pm on Friday of each week (Excluding emergency transfers for netminders)

# **Emergency Transfers (Less Than 7 Days)**



- Temporary (usually one game) for unforeseen circumstances.
- Senior hockey: only for netminders if game cannot proceed.
- WNIHL U16: max 3 players per fixture if below minimum bench strength.
- England National Team Programme juniors cannot be used in same age group.
- Female recreational netminders eligible for WNIHL (Inc. BUIHA) with written approval from EIH and partner organisations.
- EIH approves case-by-case and can refuse.

### **Dispensation: Playing Up**

- For player development or to meet bench strength.
- Means playing in a higher division or age group (including junior → senior).
- Clubs must show duty of care and carry out full due diligence when selecting a player to play up.

# Playing Up Within a Club (Multiple Divisions)

- Players can move up from a lower division team within the same club to aid development.
- Age 14–22 (on fixture date and under 23 by 31 Dec):
  - May play up without restriction, except WNIHL2 → WNIHL Elite and WNIHL2
     Elizabeth → Valerie (not allowed).
- Female player restrictions for WNIHL2 (Elizabeth and Valerie excluding netminders):
  - Cannot play if they are:
    - A current GB Women's National Team member (GB U18 or GB Senior
       GB Futures does not apply).
    - Registered with a WNIHL Elite or NIHL team (2, 1, or PINIHL).

#### Players over 23:

- May play up max 3 times to the next division only (e.g., WNIHL2 Elizabeth OR Valerie → WNIHL1, or WNIHL1 → Elite).
- On the 3rd game, they become registered to the higher division.
- Cannot play playoffs for the lower division.
- All Requests need WNIHL GM approval and only if higher team is below minimum bench strength.



- Playing down is not permitted (except netminders). Permanent transfers down to a lower division may be allowed for safety/injury, but then 28-day freeze period is in place where no further transfers can take place.
- Players can only play for one higher division team, unless WNIHL U16 (who may play for two higher teams, but not both WNIHL2 and Elite).

#### Playing Up an Age Group

Juniors can play up one age group; cannot play down.

# • Female players:

- o Age 10 (or 9 if netminder): can play in WNIHL U16.
- o Age 14: in any WNIHL division.
- o Age 16+: can play in any WNIHL or NIHL Senior division.
- WNIHL female category eligibility is as defined in Section 6 and the IHUK Sex & Gender Participation Policy (sex recorded at birth female; adult players not undergoing masculinising hormone treatment). No biological male (recorded sex at birth is Male) players/netminders.
- Emergency netminder requests must first try EIH goalie pool.

#### **Dispensation from Minimum Bench Strength**

- Teams are required to request exemption from 10+1 bench minimum. This must be requested in writing no less than 5 days before the date of the fixture. Approval must be obtained in writing from the EIH.
- Bench Team Officials can be borrowed from other teams, but priority goes to their primary club if there's a clash.

#### 8. Failure to Fulfil a Fixture

#### **Principle**

A team that, without just cause (as defined in EIH Regulations), fails to fulfil a league or cup fixture will forfeit the match and may be fined and required to reimburse the non-offending team's reasonable costs (e.g., ice hire, officials, travel), subject to evidence.

# **Automatic outcomes**

#### One team at fault:

- o Result: awarded to the non-offending team in line 5-0.
- Sanctions: fine (tariff below) + cost reimbursement.

#### Both teams at fault:

- o Result: 0–0, no points.
- Sanctions: both teams fined (tariff below).



#### Neither team at fault:

o Result: 0–0, one point each.

Sanctions: none.

# Fine tariffs (by age group)

Age group	Tariff 1	Tariff 2	Tariff 3	Tariff 4
WNIHL	N/A	£100	£150	Expulsion
WNIHL U16	N/A	£50	£100	Expulsion

#### **Points deductions**

• Tariff 2: -2 points

• Tariff 3: -4 points

Tariffs are generally applied cumulatively (e.g., Tariff 1 for a first offence), but the League Management and DOPS may escalate where warranted (e.g., cancellation within 24 hours, high-profile fixtures, or no-show without notice).

#### Costs

The offending team must indemnify the non-offending team and, where applicable, the venue, for game-specific ice costs and officials' expenses.

# Removal from competition

If a team is removed, all their results are expunged from the competition record.

### 8.1 Satisfactory Supporting Documentation

EIH may request evidence to support any reschedule, postponement, abandonment, or cost claim. Examples include:

- Rink confirmation of ice failure/closure
- Traffic/breakdown evidence
- Medical emergencies or Acts of God/severe weather (normally Red alert level; in exceptional cases, an Amber alert may be considered, subject to EIH approval).
   Delays impacting 3+ players or a key coach.
- Death of a team member or official.

For cost claims: game-specific invoices, rink cancellation policy/contract, transport invoices and related policies

• All claims must be submitted with documentary evidence (e.g. invoices, booking confirmations, or cancellation policies) within five working days of the postponement.



- All claims are subject to review and must receive formal approval from EIH before reimbursement is authorised.
- If satisfactory evidence is not provided, the fixture may be awarded against the team that failed to supply evidence and/or cost claims may be declined.
- EIH will determine what constitutes satisfactory documentation.

#### 9. Payment of On-Ice Officials

- Fees: Referees are reimbursed in accordance with Appendix E.
- **Default method:** Cash to the Match Officials, with a receipt provided on request.
- WNIHL fixtures (all EIH-sanctioned competitions: league, cup, challenge, tournaments, camps, exhibitions):
  - The Home Team is responsible for the full officiating fees. Payment must be made no later than immediately after the game and before the officials leave the venue.
  - Default method: Cash to the Match Officials, with a receipt provided on request.

# **Electronic payments (interim protocol)**

- EIH is reviewing electronic payment alternatives and will issue a full policy in due course.
- Until then, electronic payment may be used only if agreed before face-off with the Match Officials. The paying team must provide on-the-spot confirmation (e.g., transfer reference/screenshot or card receipt).
- The Senior Referee will record the method, time, and confirmation/reference on the game sheet.

### Non-payment

- If payment (cash or agreed electronic) is not confirmed before face-off, EIH/IHUK Referee services may be suspended for that team until all amounts are settled.
- Any fixture falling within a suspension period will be cancelled and recorded as a Failure to Fulfil a Fixture, with the non-paying team at fault.

# 10. Equipment & Kit

**Baseline:** IIHF equipment rules apply, with EIH additions set out below.

#### **EIH Requirements**

• Full kit at all times during games (including when serving a penalty).



- Facial protection (Full-face covering or half visor and mouth guard) is mandatory in EIH WNIHL Competition
  - Must be worn as manufactured; no alterations.
  - Fit: chin sits properly in the chin cup; helmet secured; J-clips (where provided) engaged. If fit cannot be achieved, the player must not continue until corrected. Refer to the IHUK In-House Rules for further information.
- Neck-laceration protector: mandatory and unaltered from manufacturer spec.
- Illegal equipment: Non-compliance with face and neck protection will be penalised as illegal equipment.
- Jerseys: Shirt/number must match the official team list.

#### **Bench standards**

- Rostered (dressed) players on the bench: full kit, including helmet (full face) and neck guard.
- Non-playing U16 players may be on the bench only if wearing, at minimum: helmet with full-face protection, neck guard, and upper-body protection. Otherwise, they must leave the bench.

# 11. Appendices

- A League structures & games matrix
- B WNIHL Championship Weekend
- C Minimum squad & bench strength requirements
- D- On-ice official fees
- E Contacts



# Appendix A – League structures & games matrix WNIHL Leagues

Division	WNIHL Elite	WNIHL 1 North	WNIHL 1 South
Games	20	20	20
Format	2H & 2A against all teams	2H & 2A against all teams	2H & 2A against all teams
Start date	6th September 2025	6th September 2025	6 <sup>th</sup> September 2025
End date	10 May 2026	10 May 2026	10 May 2026
Championships	Top 4 teams	Top 2 teams	Top 2 teams
Champs dates	24 – 26 May 2026	24 – 26 May 2026	24 – 26 May 2026
Clubs	Guildford Lightning Queen Bees Solihull Vixens Streatham Storm Elite Whitley Bay WIHC Elite Bristol Huskies Elite	Caledonia Steel Queens Kingston Diamonds Nottingham Vipers Sheffield Shadows Solway Sharks Ladies Widnes Wild Women	Chelmsford Cobras & Pythons Milton Keynes Falcons Fire Bees Swindon Topcats Cambridge Kodiaks Streatham Storm

Division	WNIHL 2 North Valerie	WNIHL 2 North - Elizabeth	WNIHL South A Valerie	WNIHL 2 South B - Elizabeth	
Games	20	16	20	20	
Format	2H & 2A against all teams	2H & 2A against all teams	2H & 2A against all teams	2H & 2A against all teams	
Start date	6 <sup>th</sup> September 2025	6 <sup>th</sup> September 2025	6 <sup>th</sup> September 2025	6 <sup>th</sup> September 2025	
End date	10 May 2026	10 May 2026	10 May 2026	10 May 2026	
Championships	Top 2 teams	Top 2 teams	Top 2 teams	Top 2 teams	
Champs dates	dates 24 – 26 May 2026 24 – 26 May 2026 24 – 26 May 2026		24 – 26 May 2026		
Clubs	Kingston Diamonds Leeds Roses Sheffield Shadows 2 Telford Wrekin Raiders IHC Whitley Bay WIHC 2 Blackburn Hawks Womens	Caledonia Steel Bees Kingston Diamonds Leeds Thorns Manchester Storm Nottingham Vipers	Slough Sirens Solent Amazons Haringey Hounds Chelmsford Cobras Cardiff Comets Oxford Midnight Stars	Bristol Huskies 2 Lee Valley Vampires Invicta Dynamics Coventry Phoenix MK Falcons 2 Cambridge Kodiaks 2 Chelmsford Pythons	



# WNIHL U16 Leagues

Format	1H & 1A against all teams	1H & 1A against all teams		
Start date	6 September 2025	16 September 2025		
End date	10 May 2026	10 May 2026		
Championships Top 2 teams		Top 2 teams		
Champs dates	23 – 25 May 2026	23 – 25 May 2026		
Clubs Kingston Diamonds		Bristol Huskies Puppies		
	Leeds Junior Knights	Chelmsford Rattlesnakes IHA		
	Manchester Storm Academy	Haringey Hounds JIHC		
	Sheffield Shadows U16	IceBees		
	Whitley Bay U16 WIHC	Swindon TopKittens		
	Caledonia Iron Maidens	MK Storm		
	Deeside Dragons	Midlands Raiders IHC		
	Billingham Stars U16			
	Nottingham Vipers U16			

**Clubs with two teams** are encouraged to **balance rosters** so that all players receive fair and equal opportunities.



### Appendix B – WNIHL Finals Weekend

• All games follow **EIH Rule Book**, except as noted below.

#### **Attendance & Format**

# Mandatory attendance for:

• Top 4 teams: WNIHL Elite

Top 2 teams: WNIHL N1 & S1

Top 2 teams: WNIHL N2A & S2A

Top 2 teams: WNIHL N2B & S2B

Top 2 teams: U16 North & South

Failure to attend: Start next season with -10 points and lose any earned promotion.

**Venue**: Neutral site (2026: IceSheffield, 23–25 May)

#### **Format**

• **Elite**: 1v4, 2v3 → Final

WNIHL 1: N1vS2, S1vN2 → Final

• WNIHL 2A: North1vSouth2, South1vNorth2 → Final

• WNIHL 2B: North1vSouth2, South1vNorth2 → Final

• **U16**: North1vSouth2, South1vNorth2 → Final

# **Player Eligibility**

- Only eligible players can be listed; naming absent players = suspension + £25 fine per sheet
- Criteria:
  - Must play for primary club
  - Played ≥25% of league games for that team
  - Transfers: 25% counted from season start, not transfer date
  - Players turning 14:
  - Must complete 25% of games after birthday
  - Must turn 14 before Championship Weekend



### **Dispensation**

EIH may grant dispensation if:

- Player missed games due to:
  - o **Injury or pregnancy** (with evidence)
  - o International duty (per IIHF Rule 11)
  - Cancelled fixtures
- Exceptional cases: illness/injury → player pool (after internal options)
- Netminders: age 14+, registered before 31 Jan
- All requests follow normal dispensation/approval process

# **Match-Day Protocols**

- **Team lists**: Submit by deadline in tournament invite
- Ineligible player listed = team expelled from event
- Discipline:
  - o Penalty points & suspensions carry over to next season
  - Major offences → match reports
  - Abusive/damaging behaviour → ejection, bans, liability for costs



### **Appendix C – Minimum Squad & Bench Strength Requirements**

# Summary of Minimum Squads

League	No. of teams	Squad size by 31 August of playing season
WNIHL	1	Min: 12 + 1
	2	Min: 20 + 2

All players must be fully registered and allocated in GameDay to their respective teams by 31 August 2025.

# Summary of Minimum Bench Strength on Match Day

League	Players	Bench officials	
WNIHL	Min: 10 + 1*	L2 Team Coach and minimum L1 Assistant	
	Max 20 + 2	Coach (U16 cannot be player coach)	
		Team Manager: does not count towards	
		bench strength, but may be on the bench.	

#### **Late Arrivals**

- A game may start with a minimum of six players (5 skaters + 1 netminder).
- By the start of the second period, the team must reach the full minimum bench strength as defined in Section 8.
- These late-arriving players must be dressed and on the bench, ready to participate.
- If the required number is not met by the second period, the fixture will be classified as a failure to fulfil.
- ^Unless written approval from EIH has been granted.



# Appendix D - On-Ice official fees

The following fees apply for the 2025–2026 season.

Please note: the prices listed exclude unavoidable additional charges such as parking fees, toll roads/bridges, congestion charges, or similar expenses.

League	Total Fee*	Max Mileage	Max Mileage Fee	Total	Referee Fee	Linesman Fee	2 Man System
WNIHL Elite	£129	350	£157.50	£286.50	£55.00	£37.00	£64.50
WNIHL1	£80	250	£112.50	£192.50	£34.00	£23.00	£40.00
WNIHL 2	£80	250	£112.50	£192.50	£24.00	£16.50	£28.50
U16 Girls	£69	200	£90	£159	£34.50	£19.50	£69.00

<sup>\*</sup>Without Mileage



# **Appendix E- Contacts**

### **EIH Director – WNIHL**

Martin Peters
martin.peters@englandicehockey.com

# **General Manager – WNIHL**

Faye Andrews

faye.andrews@englandicehockey.com

# **Registration Secretary**

Liz Moralee liz.moralee@englandicehockey.com

# **Fixtures Manager**

Sharon Khan Sharon.khan@englandicehockey.com

# Frank Wright Cup Manager

Danielle Duguid

Danielle.Duguid@englandicehockey.com

# **Operational Support & General Enquiries**

**EIH Office** 

info@englandicehockey.com